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

     
    

 
     
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 
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’ 
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 
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By  Angela Clark

In the 1950s, 60s and 70s, the 
plywood cabin cruisers built in 
Stourport by Canal Pleasure CraŌ Ltd 
were a regular sight along the length 
of the Staffs & Worcs Canal. 

Those early hirers were a hardy and 
intrepid breed, many of them ex-
military. Indeed, they needed to be 
quite resourceful as there was very 
liƩle maintenance of the canals, 
parƟcularly in the 1950s when 
working boat traffic all but ceased at 
the Southern end of the canal and 
pleasure boats were very few and far 
between. 

FaciliƟes on the boats were quite 
primiƟve in the early days, “bucket 
and chuck it” toilets, and very basic 
cookers. Gas fridges were considered 
a huge luxury. In later years, car 
radios were fiƩed and the last few 
boats even had a shower! They 
certainly would not be acceptable to 
modern-day hirers. 

It all started in 1947, with a chance 
encounter between my father Holt 
AbboƩ and Tom Rolt of “Narrowboat” 
fame in Diglis Basin. Over a drink on 
board Cressy, they discussed the 
dimensions and specificaƟons for a 
“go-anywhere” boat. 

By 1950, Dad had built his first cabin-
cruiser “Avonvale” in a disused scout  

hut at Saul JuncƟon. In August of that 
year, they aƩended the first IWA rally 
at Market Harborough, where 
Avonvale won a prize for “the best 
constructed boat other than a 
narrowboat” 

Needing a base to build and hire 
boats, in 1951 he moved up to the 
premises we now know as “The 
Wharf” beside Stourport Basin. In 
1958, he exchanged premises with 
BriƟsh Waterways who were using 
the workshop above York Street Lock 
at Parkes Quay as a maintenance 
depot.This gave CPL beƩer faciliƟes 
and much more room to operate. 
Also of course, a very useful crane. 

The lease also included the toll house 
by the lock, which made a nice liƩle 
studio for Dad’s sister, BeƩy AbboƩ, 
to paint tradiƟonal Castles & Roses 
canalware.  

In 1951 there were occasional leƩers 
and arƟcles in the local press, 
suggesƟng that the canals and basins 
were obsolete and a health hazard, 
and would be beƩer filled in. This 
gradually escalated over the next few 
years, unƟl in 1954, the Staffs and 
Worcs canal between Stourport and 
Kidderminster and parts of the Basins 
were in serious danger of being 
permanently closed and filled in.  

     
            
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There were many leƩers from Dad 
and other interested parƟes in the 
local and naƟonal papers, and reports 
of council meeƟngs where the 
councillors argued to and fro. In one 
newspaper cuƫng I have, a councillor 
(who shall remain nameless) “dreamt 
of the wonderful possibility of filling 
in the basin and making a car park of 
same”. Fortunately, he didn’t have 
the full support of the council, with at 
least two other members supporƟng 
the retenƟon and maintenance of the 
canals and basin.Other suggesƟons 
made included: 

Filling in the length of canal between 
York Street Lock and MiƩon Bridge to 
create a recreaƟonal area. 

Or that the enƟre length of the canal 
between Stourport and 
Kidderminster could be filled in and 
used as a main road (This was before 
the exisƟng dual carriageway, which 
was a very dangerous 3-lane road at 
the Ɵme)

Dad approached the MP for 
Kidderminster, Gerald Nabarro, who 
joined in the movement to save the 
canals and basin. Many leƩers passed 
between them, and Mr Nabarro was 
most supporƟve and helpful.He was a 
thorn in the side of the Minister of 
Transport and the BriƟsh Transport 
Commission, who in 1955 were 
planning to abandon 770 miles of 
canal. He argued that it was 
necessary to separate the canal 
interests from the railway interests to 

turn them into compeƟng bodies, 
which he saw as “the only formula for 
a more hopeful future for the canals”  

In early 1956 The BriƟsh Transport 
Commission finally announced that 
they would spend £5.5 million on 
renovaƟon and reconstrucƟon of the 
canals, which although not sufficient 
for the whole country was certainly a 
step in the right direcƟon, and a 
demonstraƟon of intent. 

At some point in the 70s, Dad gave a 
talk (probably to the Rotary Club) the 
transcript of which I sƟll 
have.Unfortunately, I don’t know 
what year this was, but it is certainly 
aŌer 1973 and before 1978. 
InteresƟngly, he finds it necessary to 
explain that Tom Rolt was the brother 
of the famous racing driver Tony Rolt. 
Presumably it was more likely that his 
audience would have known of the 
laƩer! 

Some staƟsƟcs he quoted: 

 In 1951, only 3 hire 
companies, total of 14 boats 
available! 
 By mid 50s 20 known hire 
firms, rising to over 100 “today” total 
of some 2800 boats available for hire. 
He goes on to say “StaƟsƟcs show 
that the peak has passed. Perhaps 
too many boats now and costs too 
high in compeƟƟon with cheaper air 
packages to guaranteed sun.” 

How wrong could he be! 



9 



10 

      
             

    

By  Julian Souter 

Lodged in the Stafford Record Office 
are many primary sources of 
evidence regarding the planning and 
construcƟon of the canal from 1766 
to 1772. The Under Clerk of the 
Works, John Fennyhouse Green, was 
responsible for many of these 
including a Levelling Book, 18 Day 
Books, 3 James Brindley Order 
Books, lists of landowners and a 
rough plan of the canal drawn in late 
1772. 

These reveal the challenges and 
obstacles faced during the 
construcƟon of the canal and the 
changes made to its route. In this 
first arƟcle, I am going to focus on 
the most northern secƟon of the 
canal from the aqueduct over the 
River Sow near Milford up to the 
Trent and Mersey. 

There were two key landowners in 
this northern secƟon of the 
canal,Thomas Anson Esq. of 
Shugborough and The Hon. Sir 
Thomas Clifford owner of Tixall Hall. 
Both were shareholders in the SWC 
and had been listed in the original 
Act of Parliament. Anson was born in 
1695, the son of William Anson of 
“Shutborow Mannor” and was MP  

for Lichfield from 1747 to 1770. 
Thomas inherited a considerable 
fortune from his younger brother in 
1762 that he used this to remodel 
Shugborough in a Greek revival style, 
building as temples and follies in the 
extensive grounds, that you can sƟll 
see, courtesy of the NaƟonal Trust. 
The other main landowner Sir 
Thomas Clifford lived at Tixall Hall. 
He had married the younger 
daughter of the previous owner 
James Lord Aston who had died 
young and set about improving it in 
the late 1760s. The Hall was 
eventually demolished in the late 
1920s and all that remains is the 
imposing gatehouse that can be 
clearly seen from the canal.  

The significance of all this is the 
influence these two men were able 
to bring to bear on the canal 
company and, ulƟmately, its final 
route towards the Trent and Mersey. 
The first sign of this is in the 1766 
Act itself when Anson is named on a 
number of occasions, all to do with 
the crossing of the River Sow, firstly 
“at or near an Oak Tree on Master 
Anson’s ground called Tutor’s Hill … 
over “proper arches”and then fine 
detail of the route of the canal north 
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wards to cross the Trent with specific 
pieces of land named. The Company 
is also required to make a road from 
the Stafford Road to the River Sow 
over Anson’s land on a bridge and 
with arches wide enough for 
carriages to pass safely. 

Anson clearly also used his influence 
to get his name into the 1770 Act of 
Parliament that was principally 
drawn up to raise addiƟonal funds to 
finish the canal. The course of the 
canal over the River Sow is to be 
altered because of the lowness of 
the land it was to pass through and 
the consequent threat of flooding. 
Anson has “given leave” for the canal 
to cross the Sow wherever the 
company sees fit but that if it is to be 
higher than the oak tree specified in 
the 1766 Act, the company must, at 
its own expense, construct a new 
road from Stafford, over the Sow and 
then on to Tixall. He has clearly 
driven a hard bargain! 

So what was actually happening on 
the ground at this Ɵme? In October 
1770, several months aŌer the 
passing of the 1770 Act, John 
Fennyhouse Green with Robert 
Whitworth, one of James Brindley’s 
right hand men, is taking levels from 
Milford to the lock weir at Haywood 
(the modern Haywood Lock on the 
Trent and Mersey). This route goes 
through a pasture field where a lock 
and bridge are planned, passes the 

“China House”(sƟll a feature on the 
Shugborough estate) and on to near 
Haywood Mill before reaching the 
Trent and Mersey. On 8th October 
1770 James Brindley goes with 
Whitworth and Green to Haywood 
where he orders them to set out two 
routes for the canal with either 
Anson or the Hon. Clifford deciding 
where the canal is to cross the Sow 
depending on the route chosen. 
Both men are very much in the 
picture. 

We return to the area in January 
1771 when Green levels from the 
lock at Haywood to the north side of 
the Sow at Holles Ford; Milford Lock 
(also referred to as Swallow Moor 
Lock) is included. In February there 
appears to be a disagreement 
between Anson and Clifford 
regarding the crossing of the Sow at 
Milford but this has been resolved by 
1stMarch when Anson gives his 
consent although no reason is given. 
On 4th March Green completes a 
detailed opƟons appraisal of crossing 
the Sow at Stoneford (presumably 
near where the modern bridge 103 is 
situated) or Milford. He recommends 
Stoneford but John Baker, the Clerk 
of the Works, disagrees. The maƩer 
is passed to the commiƩee who 
meet on 12th March at Haywood and 
it is here that decisions are made 
regarding the juncƟon with the Trent 
and Mersey. The commiƩee then 
repairs to Stoneford where Sir 
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reduced this porƟon of the building 
to a single storey. The Landlords wife 
apparently tried to persuade him to 
rebuild as it had been, but failed and 
the debris was pushed into the canal 
and corrugated roof installed. 

The estate agents website describes 
it as  “a property with more than 240 
years of history. From canal side 
coƩage to a respected public house.  

BoƩerham House is its own liƩle 
piece of Wombourne History. 

A substanƟal property siƫng on 
nearly 2 acres with a potenƟal 
building foot print of 4,000 sq Ō with 
strong planning potenƟal.” 

I would admit to some envy of 
whoever gets to take on finishing it 
off. 
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Earlier this year Tony Gregory 
forwarded me a copy of the following 
arƟcle wriƩen by Roger Wilkinson
for the January 1980 Broadsheet. 
AŌer over forty years a lot of us 
never knew how the disƟncƟve finger 
posts came to be a feature or our 
waterway. 

THE Staffordshire and Worcestershire 
Canal Society was formed in 1959 by 
a small group of canal enthusiasts 
whose common interest brought 
them together to fight against the 
proposed closure of the whole 46-
mile length. But now some 20 years 
later the situaƟon has changed, local 
authoriƟes have actually given help 
to the Society through grant aids to 
help finance various projects on the 
canal. One of these projects has 
been the erecƟon of three 1760 style 
wooden finger posts poinƟng the  

way at the important juncƟons along 
the system. It all came about when 
several members considered that 
metal monstrosiƟes in familiar 
shades of blue and yellow were not 
considered to be the right style of 
signpost along a system of such 
outstanding rural and architectural 
beauty. As with most socieƟes, the 
Staffs. and Worc. have the usual 
limiƟng financial problems when it 
comes to spending money — but 

  
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having the will is half the baƩle and 
uƟlisaƟon becomes second nature. 
B.W.B. was approached and official 
permission was granted for the 
Society to make and erect their own 
signposts. It was at this stage that 
the idea to use old lock balance 
beams was thought of and five were 
donated by the Board, of which the 
three posts now erected were made. 
The beams were collected in due 
course from the various sites, and, in 
the process of collecƟng the one 
from Stourport, an unfortunate 
accident occurred involving the 
Society in an unexpected expense. 
Whilst manoeuvring the heavy 
beams, which weigh several 
hundredweight, a rose tree 
belonging to the lock-keeper's wife 
was damaged. Friendly relaƟons, 
however, were firmly re-established 

 with a replacement. Once loaded on 
a trailer the next move was to a firm 
of professional coopers at 
Netherton, near Dudley — sheer 
coincidence that is happens to be 
owned by one of the vice presidents 
— and there in the evenings a 
volunteer work force shaped and 
planed the beams to the correct size. 
The main posts are at least 12Ō. 6in. 
high, and 10in. square, the arms are 
6Ō. overall in length, 6in. high and 
2in. thick and are also cut so that 
they interlock securely into the 
posts. The carving of the names on 
the arms is in 4in. high recessed 
leƩers — the same style as the 
leƩers on the bridge plates on the 
Staffs. and Worc. canal. The carving 
has been done professionally, and 
local district councils have paid for 
this by means of a grant aid. The top 
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 of the post was capped with lead to 
stop the rot — although it is good 
solid English oak — and at least six 
coats of black and white paint were 
applied. These last items together 
with the metal to secure the finger 
posts into the main posts were paid 
for by the Society. When all this work 
is completed, the posts arc ready for 
erecƟon and assembly. They are 
taken on a trailer to where the G.U. 
Star class motorboat, Aquarius, 
owned by one of the Society's 
members is waiƟng. Once loaded on 
board it is simply a maƩer of taking 
them up the canal to the selected 
site (most sites are usually 
inaccessible by road any way) to 
where a working party of members is 
waiƟng. ErecƟon usually takes up to 
four hours, the main post being 
hauled to an upright posiƟon by 
block and tackle. Infilling of the hole 
it stands in is completed and a 
scaffold tower assembled around the 
post, ladders aƩached, and the arms 
driven into their recesses and keyed 
in place. Stourton JuncƟon was the 
first site chosen for a signpost. This is 
where the Stourbridge canal leaves 
the Staffs, and Worcs. and starts its 
climb up towards Dudley and 
Netherton tunnels. This post, 
sponsored. by South Staffs. District 
Council, was erected in May 1977. 

The second post, at Autherley 
JuncƟon, was paid for completely by 
the Staffs. and Worcs. Society and 
erected in February 1978. At this 
juncƟon the Shropshire Union Canal 
starts its journey to Chester and 
Ellesmere Port aŌer passing through 
the six-inch stop lock. Number three 
signpost was erected in March 1978 
at Aldesley JuncƟon where the 
Wolverhampton 21 locks climb up to 
the centre of Wolverhampton and on 
to Birmingham and the industrial 
B.C.N. system. This post was 
sponsored by the Wolverhampton 
Metropolitan District Council. The 
erecƟon coincided with the Society's 
annual Spring cruise and a party of 
local councillors were invited along 
in a trip boat to view the signpost 
and to see "Valley Park", a linear 
informal park the council is 
developing. As it turned out it was a 
masterpiece of Ɵming — more by 
accident than design. The work party 
involved in erecƟon were just raising 
the main post, when, right on cue, 
the trip boat carrying the councillors 
came under the bridge of the site. It 
was a wonderful sight of volunteer 
labour, enthusiasƟcally puƫng 
council's grant aid money to good 
use, and most certainly will go a long 
way in helping towards any further 
requests for grant aid when we 
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require them. A fourth post is now 
being made for the boƩom of the 
narrow locks on the River Severn at 
Stourport to point the way to 
Wolverhampton and Chester. It has 
been decided not to signpost up river 
to Bewdley because of navigaƟon 
difficulƟes. Eventually a fiŌh post at 
Great Haywood, the north end of the 
canal where it joins up with the Trent 
and Mersey, will be made, but no 
date has yet been fixed. As a lot of 
short lengths of oak were leŌ over, it 
was decided, rather than waste it, to 
make lock name boards in the same 
leƩering and colour (black and white) 
as the signposts. They have been 

mounted in concrete bases sunk into 
the ground — helping to stop the 
wood roƫng off at ground level. 
Other projects the Society has in 
mind include boundary name boards 
showing where the Staffordshire and 
Worcestershire boundaries start 
(although these no longer exist since 
the 1974 local government 
reorganisaƟon). Wooden strapping 
posts in the same design as the old 
Staffs. and Worc. Canal Co. should 
look beƩer than concrete mushroom 
and maybe other ideas will come up 
in Ɵme. One thing though, is for sure: 
if you cruise the Staffs. and Worcs. 
you certainly won't get lost!  
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  
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     
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  
  

  
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